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We have created new faculties of health sciences and 
environmental studies; expanded on programming 
in sciences and applied sciences and combined 
our strengths in communication, art, and design; 
and have sustained our core interests in the liberal 
arts and natural sciences. By complementing in-
class and experiential learning, our students gain 
applied skills that contribute to their future success. 
Enrolment over the last decade has increased by 
44% and this year our intake of new students was 
the highest ever. Our international partnerships 
and collaborations draw an increasing number 
of international students to the institution.

We finish the 2009/10 fiscal year in a much 
stronger financial position over the previous year, 
with investments restored, enrolment at an all-
time high, and reserves returned to a healthier 
position. Our research funding, which has grown 
by 150% in the past 10 years, remains strong and 
our endowments continue to generate significant 
financial support for our academic and research 
programs, student scholarships and bursaries. 

Along with the expansion of academic and research 
programs over the past decade, our capital asset 
base has grown by 166% and the equity in capital 
assets has grown by nearly $200 million. The 
Burnaby campus has seen four new academic 
buildings: Blusson Hall, Saywell Hall, and TASC 1 
& 2. These award winning facilities contribute to 
a dynamic and vibrant campus complemented 
by the unique urban development of UniverCity, 
a community that is an outstanding example 
of sustainability and social responsibility. 

The relocation of the School for the Contemporary 
Arts to SFU Woodward’s this year is another 
remarkable achievement in campus development. This 
state-of-the-art facility in the heart of the Downtown 
Eastside will put Vancouver on the map as an exciting 
destination for the international arts community. 
Two other exciting restoration projects in downtown 
Vancouver have also left their mark on the Vancouver 

DR. MICHAEL STEVENSON
PRESIDENT 

The past year crowns a decade of achievement for Simon 
Fraser University. Dedicated to building on this university’s 
legacy of innovation in research, multidisciplinary studies, 
and leading professional programs, we have greatly 
increased the diversity and range of our academic offerings. 

landscape in the last decade, the Morris J Wosk Centre 
for Dialogue, and the Segal Graduate School of Business. 
The creation of the Surrey campus and the integration 
of TechBC in 2002 provided the South Fraser region 
with much needed access to university education. SFU 
Surrey is already surpassing enrolment targets, and 
there remains great opportunity to improve access in 
this fast-growing region. Funding from the Knowledge 
Infrastructure Program will allow the campus to 
expand its teaching and research space in the areas 
of science and health science, and SFU continues to 
foster deep engagement with the community, providing 
opportunities for education through a multitude of 
continuing studies and community outreach programs.

The University was especially proud to win the 2009 
gold award from the Institute of Public Administration 
of Canada (IPAC)/Deloitte for public-sector leadership 
in education, which noted our pioneering moves to 
become firmly rooted in the local community. The 
community in turn has been generous in its support of 
the University through contributions to operating, capital 
and endowment initiatives, with the endowment fund 
growing by over $100 million over the last ten years.  

While huge investments of public funding have 
contributed to the growth of SFU over this decade, 
protecting base funding from inflationary pressures and 
creating a diversification of revenues will be necessary in 
future. In the past few years, the University has achieved 
expenditure control through extensive reorganization, 
and will continue to manage resources strategically.

Leading the University through such a period 
of growth and achievement has been a great 
privilege. But our achievements are the product of 
the faculty, staff, and students whose dedication 
to this university is the source of its strength.
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In August 2010, Michael Stevenson will retire 
as SFU’s longest-standing president. Over 
the past decade, he has led one of the most 
ambitious programs of organizational change 
and development at any Canadian university. 
With vision and fortitude, he championed 
SFU Contemporary Arts in the Woodward’s 
redevelopment as an art school contributing to 
social and cultural renewal. Through expanded 
facilities and new faculties, his legacy is a 
greatly enhanced educational landscape.
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Tuition revenues increased due to growth in student 
enrolment which was well over target, particularly 
in international students. Although increased tuition 
revenues provide a step towards strategic growth, 
the intake exceeded government funded targets and 
going forward, this will require careful management of 
resources to ensure ongoing support for students. 

Events triggering the global financial crisis in late 2008 
caused the University to experience considerable 
financial constraint during fiscal 2008/09. The recent 
rebound in financial markets led to a large increase 
in our investment returns; investment income 
reached $55.2 million this year compared to a loss 
of $37.0 million in 2008/09. Despite the rebound 
and positive growth expectations for the Canadian 
economy, we are cautioned by the continuing 
economic crises outside of Canada which have the 
potential to negatively impact our investments. 

Sponsored research revenues remained strong due to 
the government’s commitment to support Canada’s 
innovation and research agenda. We continued to 
achieve above average success in competing for funding, 
demonstrating an ambitious research agenda and 
laying the foundation for future research activities.

Managing expenses has been an ongoing priority 
for the University. Expenses were reduced by 2% 
overall in fiscal 2009/10 while revenues, excluding 
investment gains, increased 9% over the same 
period. This resulted in operating net assets 
being restored to modest surplus levels. 

We are entering the next fiscal year in a much 
stronger financial position. We will work with 
the University community and stakeholders to 
ensure continued financial sustainability while 
maintaining our reputation as one of Canada’s 
best universities— ensuring superior quality in our 
academic programs, research pursuits, student 
experiences, and community engagement activities.

DR. PAT HIBBITTS
VICE PRESIDENT, FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION 

The University achieved an $83.2 million surplus for fiscal 
2009/10, a significant improvement over the previous year. 
This is attributable to the increase in student enrolment, 
the outstanding performance of our investment 
portfolios, and our diligent financial management.
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The Architectural Institute of British Columbia 
has given SFU Burnaby’s Blusson Hall (designed 
by Busby Perkins+Will Architects) its highest 
award, the Lieutenant-Governor Award in 
Architecture medal. It exceeds Leadership 
in Energy and Environmental Design (LEED) 
Silver standards with ecologically friendly 
features such as a planted roof, sustainably 
harvested timber, underground storm-water 
collection for irrigation, a minimal use of 
off-gassing construction materials, radiant-
floor heating and abundant natural light.
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ABOUT SFU 

Simon Fraser University is a public university serving 
students from British Columbia, Canada, and the world. 
The University is a research intensive, comprehensive 
post-secondary learning institution with approximately 
34,100 credit students and nearly 940 instructional 
and research faculty members. The University’s 
three distinct campuses offer a broad range of 
degrees from eight faculties as well as many varied 
continuing education and mature learner courses.

Committed to advancing knowledge through teaching, 
research, and community engagement, the University is 
recognized worldwide for its faculty, students, academic 
programs, and research activities. SFU consistently ranks 
among the nation’s top comprehensive universities. 
The 2009 Maclean’s University Rankings ranked SFU #1 
among Canada’s Comprehensive institutions. SFU is also 
ranked in the Top 200 universities in the world according 
to the Times Higher Education. Re$earch Infosource 
Inc. ranks SFU 4th among Canada’s comprehensive 
universities and 19th among Canada’s top 50 research 
universities for sponsored research income.

SFU’s strengths include its ability to offer students a 
range of interdisciplinary programming on a trimester 
basis. The University offers innovative and diversified 
core programs in the natural sciences, social sciences, 
humanities, engineering, business and education and 
a current priority to building expertise in the fields 
of health sciences and environmental studies. SFU’s 
work-integrated programs, international field schools, 
and dual degree program are also well regarded. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
& ANALYSIS  UNAUDITED 

Three distinct campuses in Burnaby, Vancouver, and 
Surrey offer the finest facilities for scholarly pursuits. The 
main Burnaby campus provides academic and research 
space for all faculties as well as residences for 1,757 
students; SFU Surrey offers courses from five faculties 
in a more intimate environment, with progressive 
programs in science, technology, communication, and 
engineering; and the Vancouver campus includes the 
Segal Graduate School of Business, new state-of-the-
art facilities for the School for the Contemporary Arts at 
Woodward’s, and interdisciplinary graduate programs and 
credit and non-credit continuing education courses.

SFU has a long history of excellence in intercollegiate 
athletics. SFU has 15 varsity sports teams involving more 
than 300 student athletes. Beginning with the 2011-12 
season, all of SFU’s varsity teams will become the first 
Canadian teams to compete in the Great Northwest 
Athletic Conference of the NCAA’s Division II. 

In 2009/10 the University had annual revenues of $614 
million. Government funding accounted for 48%, and 
28% was raised via tuition and student fees. The rest 
was associated with investment income as well as 
donations, grants, and contracts supporting research 
and other activities. The endowment fund is valued at 
$186 million and generates resources to support student 
aid, academic programs, athletics, library materials, and 
research. The University provides services to students, 
faculty and staff on campus through ancillary operations 
run as self-sustaining businesses: the SFU bookstores, 
residences and housing, parking services, microcomputer 
store, document solutions, and dining services. 
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The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is 
meant to assist readers of the University’s financial 
statements to better understand its financial position 
and operating activities during the fiscal year ended 
March 31, 2010. It discusses some internal and external 
factors influencing the year’s financial results and may 
influence future performance. The MD&A is unaudited 
and should be read with the audited financial statements 
and accompanying notes prepared in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

Cautionary Note on Forward Looking Statements
Some statements in this MD&A are forward-looking 
statements, based on assumptions and addressing 
future events and conditions, and by their nature involve 
risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ 
materially from those anticipated in forward-looking 
statements. Readers should not place undue reliance 
on any forward-looking statements. Factors that could 
cause results to differ materially from expectations 
include, but are not limited to, the performance of 
financial markets, interest rate fluctuations, changes in 

SFU BY NUMBERS 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

STUDENTS

Undergraduate (including International) 28,477 27,479 26,332 25,009 24,368

Graduate 5,685 5,461 5,241 5,044 4,637

International (Fall) 3,790 2,991 2,802 2,524 2,384

Average Entry Grade (BC Grade 12, %) 84 81 82 84 84

Credentials Awarded (calendar year) 5,896 5,743 5,859 5,582 5,609

REVENUES & EXPENSES (millions)

Total Revenues 614 483 519 502 479 

Government Funding 292 271 274 267 259 

Student Tuition & Fees 171 155 142 134 130 

Sponsored Research Funding 62 64 67 67 60 

Ancillaries Revenue 35 35 35 30 28 

Total Expenses 537 545 512 478 455 

FINANCIAL POSITION (millions)

Total Assets 1,206 1,113 1,173 1,063 986

Capital Assets 808 779 767 700 601

Endowment Fund 186 149 177 148 133

Internally Restricted Operating Net Assets 13 (19) 3 14 33

RESOURCES

Faculty and Staff (continuing) 2,671 2,564 2,548 2,426 2,323

Burnaby Campus Space (gross square metres) 339,270 324,280 321,270 297,075 280,082

Vancouver Academic Campus Space (gasm) 27,723 29,071 27,760 28,750 22,939

Surrey Campus Space (gasm) 29,071 27,531 23,684 10,842 10,512

SFU’S VALUES & COMMITMENTS

Our mission is to advance knowledge through teaching, 
research, and engagement with the community. 
❙❙ We are an open, inclusive university whose 

foundation is intellectual and academic freedom. 
❙❙ Our scholarship unites teaching and research: we 

celebrate discovery, diversity and dialogue. 
❙❙ Our students and communities can expect teaching that 

is personal and learning opportunities that are lifelong. 
❙❙ We champion the liberal arts and sciences and 

pioneering interdisciplinary and professional programs. 
❙❙ We are a university where risks can be 

taken and bold initiatives embraced. 
Upon these foundations, we will engage all our 
communities in building a robust and ethical society.

legislation and regulations, the impact of competition, 
and business continuity risks. SFU does not undertake 
any obligation to update or revise these forward-looking 
statements to reflect events or circumstances after 
the date of this report, or to reflect the occurrence of 
unanticipated events, except as required by law.
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FIGURE 1  FALL 
2009 INTERNATIONAL 
STUDENTS BY COUNTRY 
OF CITIZENSHIP
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OUR STUDENTS

SFU’s total student headcount for 2009/10 was 34,162 
students, including 28,477 undergraduates and 5,685 
graduates. With 51% of undergraduate students attending 
the university on a part-time basis, this equates to 
24,283 total full-time equivalent (FTE) students, an 
increase of 5% over the previous year and exceeded the 
government funded enrolment target of 20,105. The 2009 
fall intake of new domestic students was 4,526 students, 
significantly more than the University’s goal of 4,120. 

The majority of students enter SFU’s undergraduate 
programs either directly from BC Grade 12 or through 
college transfer. In 2009/10, 40% of SFU’s new 
undergraduates came from BC Grade 12 with average 
entry grades of 84%. BC College transfer students 
made up another 27% of new students, making SFU 
the largest receiving institution of BC College transfer 
students. The Faculty of Arts accepted 70% of incoming 
students followed by the Faculties of Communication, 
Art and Technology (8%), Science (8%), and Applied 
Sciences (6%). SFU exceeded its international student 
target of 608, enrolling 1,481 new international 
students or 20% of new undergraduate students.

SFU places strategic emphasis on building graduate 
programs and providing innovative research 
opportunities to attract graduate students. The 
annualized graduate student headcount rose 3% 
over the previous year to 4,171 FTE students; this 
represents SFU’s largest ever increase in new graduate 
students. SFU continues to focus strategic planning on 
accommodating the growth of graduate enrolments.

2009/10 IN REVIEW

Students 09/10 08/09 07/08 06/07 05/06

Int’l FTE 2,417 1,812 1,502 1,280 1,125

% of total 13.2 10.5 9.0 7.8 7.0

The largest proportion of international students came 
from China, where Canadian curriculum courses 
prepare Chinese students for studying in Canada. 
SFU International also provides Canadian students 
with a variety of opportunities to study and learn 
abroad with 116 participants in 8 field schools, 210 
students in exchange programs, and approximately 
160 co-op students placed internationally. 

SFU is committed to supporting the BC government’s 
priority to post-secondary access to Aboriginal students. 
In 2007, a First Nations university-wide strategic plan 
was approved by the Senate and Board of Governors. 
SFU’s Office for Aboriginal Peoples is responsible for 
coordinating university-wide Aboriginal activities. SFU 
supports Aboriginal research, teaching, and engagement 
with Aboriginal peoples and communities and in 
2008/09, 532 Aboriginal students took courses at SFU.

Recruitment and retention of students is a core strategic 
focus. Student Services has implemented initiatives to 
enrich student engagement and provide students with a 
rewarding experience while at SFU and after graduation. 
These initiatives will continue with the intent to not only 
provide students with greater academic success but 
to promote a quality of life that makes the university 
journey at SFU a memorable and enjoyable one.



Measuring Student Enrolment 

Enrolment is perhaps the most significant indicator 
of growth and provides a direct link to revenues 
through government funding, tuition and student fees. 
International student enrolment and enrolment in 
professional programs provide an important source 
of additional revenue. Graduate student enrolment 
directly impacts the research mission of the University 
and SFU’s long-term goal to increase the graduate 
student population to 25% of total enrolment. 

While government funded enrolment has 
increased by 18.7% since 2003/04, SFU’s total 
enrolment has increased by 20.4% (figure 2). 

Measuring Student Success

One of the core mandates of the University is to educate 
students and provide them with the knowledge and skills 
needed to enter the workforce and make immediate 
contributions to society. One measure of success 
in achieving this goal is the number of credentials 
annually awarded by the University. Total credentials 
awarded by SFU to students has grown by 10% from 
2003 to 2009, with Bachelors increasing by 37%, 
Masters by 22%, and Doctorate degrees by 59% (figure 
3). Significant decreases of enrolment in liberal arts 
certificates have lead to decreases in undergraduate 
diplomas and certificates and enrolment in business 
and education graduate diplomas has also decreased. 
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OUR FACULTIES 

As of April 1, 2009, after extensive consultation,  
two new faculties — Environment; and Communication, 
Art and Technology — were added to the six existing 
Faculties of Applied Sciences, Arts and Social 
Sciences, Business Administration, Education, 
Health Sciences, and Science. The new Faculty of 
Environment brings together the School of Resource 
and Environmental Management, the geography 
department, the Centre for Sustainable Community 
Development, the environmental science program, 
and the graduate certificate program in development 
studies. The new Faculty of Communication, Art and 
Technology combines the School of Communication, 
the School for the Contemporary Arts, the School 
of Interactive Arts and Technology, and the 
masters of publishing and TechOne programs. 

In addition, the Faculty of Applied Sciences was 
refocused to include the School of Computing 
and the School of Engineering while the School of 
Kinesiology joined the Faculty of Science as the 
Department of Biomedical Physiology and Kinesiology. 
The Faculty re-organization and corresponding 
changes to the curriculum are expected to position 
SFU to provide new and enhanced programs in 
areas of social priority and student demand.

SFU offers students a broad range of choice in 
programming and promoting interdisciplinary 
learning, including 57 joint major programs. 
Students can pick from a multitude of combinations 
of majors and minors from across faculties. 

Our new Faculty of Environment includes resource and environmental management, geography, sustainable community development, and development studies.

In 2009, 136 students graduated with joint majors, 
a 10% increase over the previous year.

A new 3-year Academic Plan (2010–2013) was 
approved by the university’s academic Senate in 
January 2010 and will provide the strategic direction 
for the University’s academic mandate over the 
next three years. The new plan identifies key goals 
in the areas of academic curricula, pedagogy, 
academic quality, and student services.

Focus on Health Sciences

Offering a comprehensive program on public and 
population health, the Faculty of Health Sciences 
provides an interdisciplinary approach to learning and 
research in the health field. The Faculty’s mission is to 
integrate social and natural science research in order to 
discover vital information about population health on a 
global scale—and then apply this knowledge to develop 
better public health policies. The Faculty is committed 
to giving students practical opportunities to apply their 
knowledge to health problems in BC and beyond. 

The growth of the Faculty of Health Sciences is one of 
the University’s key strategic priorities and enrolment 
within the Faculty has increased five times since Fall 
2006. SFU continues to plan innovative clinical programs 
in the health sciences and medicine that do not duplicate 
established programs of existing medical schools.
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Focus on Environmental Studies

With continuing global concern over environmental 
sustainability and the increase in green technologies, 
SFU will provide opportunities to students in areas 
that address environmental issues. Key activities for 
the new Faculty of Environment in the new fiscal year 
include planning and developing new undergraduate 
programs and research foci with a goal to position 
SFU as a leader in environmental studies.

OUR PEOPLE 

SFU has nearly 940 faculty, of whom approximately 
60% are tenured. The University also employs over 
2,900 sessional lecturers, teaching, and research 
assistants. SFU’s faculty are accomplished educators 
and researchers and have received national and 
international recognition for their achievements. 

To increase Canada’s research capacity, in 2000 
the federal government established the Canada 
Research Chairs (CRC) program with a mandate to 
create 2,000 new research chairs across Canada 
over a five year period. The program allocated 45 
CRC chairs to SFU. SFU has also been awarded five 
BC Leadership Chairs, including Salmon Conservation 
and Management, Pharmaceutical Genomics and 
Bioinformatics, and Cognitive Neuroscience in 
Childhood Health and Development. The search 
for the Proactive Approaches to the Reduction 
of Violence among Children and Youth has been 
completed and this Chair will be filled in 2010/11. 

SFU employs over 1,700 non-academic staff who provide 
the administrative structure needed to support the 
extensive academic and research activities. In 2009, 
Mediacorp Canada named SFU as one of Canada’s 
Top 100 employers for the third year in a row.

Teaching

One of SFU’s core values is to provide personalized 
teaching that builds meaningful connections between 
faculty and students. While class sizes vary from 
faculty to faculty and course to course, the average 
undergraduate class size in the Fall semester has 
remained stable at around 59 students and the average 
Graduate class size has decreased from 16 to 14 
students. The student to faculty ratio improved between 
2003/04 and 2006/07 but has returned to prior levels 
in the last two years due to budget constraints and 
the impact this has had on faculty hiring (figure 4). 

26.0 26.0 26.2

24.5 24.0
24.7 24.6

4 / STUDENT TO FACULTY RATIO
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SFU microbiologist Fiona Brinkman was named 
one of Canada’s 100 Most Powerful Women by 

the Women’s Executive Network, a Toronto-based 
professional development agency. Chosen in the 

Trailblazers & Trendsetters category, Brinkman 
is a pioneer in the emerging field of pathogen 

bioinformatics—the use of powerful computers 
to study DNA and protein sequences in bacteria 

that cause disease. Brinkman has attracted 
more than $50 million in research funds, led 

or coordinated 16 major collaborative research 
projects, and received numerous accolades.
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OUR RESEARCH 

SFU’s research profile continues to grow, as 
demonstrated by the increase in sponsored research 
revenues and various well-publicized research 
achievements. Approximately half of SFU’s research 
funding comes from the three federal granting councils: 
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council 
(NSERC), Social Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council (SSHRC), and Canadian Institutes of Health 
Research (CIHR). SFU’s faculty have been extremely 
successful in obtaining grants through the Tri-Council 
Agencies and have consistently exceeded the national 
success rates in SSHRC and NSERC competitions. The 
impressive growth in research income corresponds 
with increases in both the quantity and quality of 
our research output. Between 2002 and 2007, SFU’s 
number of publications increased by over 62%, 
surpassing all but one other comprehensive university. 

Past and future success in competing for research 
awards depends on many factors: faculty members 
and their stature and track records in their respective 
fields; recruitment and retention of superior graduate 
students available to work with these professors; 
the effectiveness of collaborative partnerships, 
both within SFU and with other institutions; and a 
distinctive, competitive edge in innovative programs. 

The Strategic Research Plan (2010-2015) was updated 
and approved by Senate in January 2010. The plan is 
intended to serve as a road map for establishing the 
focus, infrastructure, and capability that are necessary 
to further advance the research performance of 
the University over the next five years. The plan 
articulates the University’s strengths by identifying 
integrative research themes that cross disciplinary 
boundaries. New discoveries in Canada and around 
the world are being made by interdisciplinary teams 
of investigators organized to address research 
questions that are multidimensional and inspired 
by global societal, environmental, and economic 
change. The seven themes described in the Plan 
are: Origins; Communication, Computation and 
Technology; Culture, Society and Human Behaviour; 
Economic Organization, Public Policy and the Global 
Community; Environment, Resources, and Conservation; 
Health and Biomedical Sciences; and Pedagogy.

Measuring Research Success

In comparison with other Canadian universities, 
SFU continues to achieve excellent results in 
annual competitions for research awards from 
the three federal granting agencies (figure 5).

The success of our researchers in obtaining funding 
means that SFU received $6.4 million from the Federal 
Indirect Cost of Research program in 2009/10, used to 
invest in research facilities and supporting infrastructure. 

In measuring research intensity (Tri-Council funding 
per faculty member), SFU surpasses several medical/
doctoral universities and all but one comprehensive 
university, a fact that demonstrates the high quality and 
competitiveness of its outstanding research programs. 

5 / SUCCESS OBTAINING RESEARCH FUNDING

  SFU    NATIONAL AVERAGE 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Natural Sciences and 
Engineering Research 
Council (NSERC) Grants

67

58

NSERC Research  
Tools & Instruments 
Grants

36

29

Social Sciences and 
Humanities Research 
Council (SSHRC) Grants

41

34

Canadian Institutes  
of Health Research  
(CIHR) Grants

15

20

NSERC Idea to 
Innovation Grants  
(I2I) non-competitive

75

52
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OUR CAMPUSES

SFU Burnaby

SFU’s main campus on Burnaby Mountain offers a 
breathtaking landscape where students, faculty, and 
staff work and live. The 339,000 square metres of 
space provides facilities for SFU’s 23,700 students 
at Burnaby every year. In 2007, the Burnaby campus 
was awarded the Prix du XXe siècle (20th century 
prize) from the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada 
to recognize Arthur Erickson’s campus architecture 
and SFU’s continued adherence to the principles and 
architectural expression of Erickson’s original vision.

SFU has embarked upon a program of environmental 
sustainability and in 2008 became North America’s 
first post-secondary institution to achieve Go Green 
certification from the International Building and Owner 
Managers Association (BOMA). The new Blusson 
Health Sciences building is the greenest building on 
the Burnaby Campus. A new sustainability policy was 
approved to ensure SFU will continue its leadership 
in sustainable operations, research, teaching, 
performance evaluation, and community outreach.

The SFU 5-Year Capital Plan identifies a number 
of infrastructure renewal projects at the Burnaby 
campus. The renovation of graduate residences was 
completed in 2009. With additional infrastructure 
funding from the provincial government and 
the federal Knowledge Infrastructure Program 
grant, the existing Chemistry facilities are being 
renewed and upgraded to LEED Gold standards.

Burnaby’s Student Central is an information centre and gathering space for students and visitors, and has lounge seating, wireless access and a plug-in laptop bar.

SFU Surrey

Established in 2002, the Surrey campus located in 
Surrey’s Central City area provides a friendly and 
supportive learning environment for over 4,100 students. 
Offering undergraduate and graduate programs in five of 
SFU’s faculties, it offers unique programs in computing 
science, interactive arts and technology, mechatronic 
systems engineering, entrepreneurship, management 
and technology, mathematics operations research, 
criminology police studies, and world literature. 

In 2010/11, with $10 million in Knowledge Infrastructure 
Program grants, SFU Surrey is upgrading and renovating 
over 5,000 square metres of space adjacent to the 
campus’s main public space. Surrey’s Podium 2 will 
provide teaching and research facilities allowing the 
campus to meet student demand in the critical areas 
of Science and Health Sciences. University science 
options in the South Fraser region are particularly limited 
and Science students at SFU Surrey must now travel 
to the Burnaby campus for their laboratory courses.
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SFU Vancouver

SFU’s Vancouver campus has five sites: the original 
SFU Harbour Centre, which celebrated its 20th 
anniversary in May 2009; the Morris J Wosk Centre 
for Dialogue; the Segal Graduate School of Business; 
the Alexander Street studio space; and now the 
School for the Contemporary Arts at Woodward’s 
opening in September 2010. The 12,000 square metres 
of space will provide state-of-the-art facilities for 
SFU’s School for the Contemporary Arts as well as 
teaching studios, theatres, a cinema, an art studio 
and gallery, a multimedia centre, and a sound stage. 

SFU Vancouver offers a variety of undergraduate 
programs, including the Undergraduate Semester in 
Dialogue, and professional graduate degrees including 
master’s programs in business, gerontology, international 
studies, liberal studies, public policy, publishing and 
urban studies. Currently the campus welcomes more 
than 70,000 people annually; 10,000 are students 
enrolled in credit and non-credit courses and thousands 
of others attend SFU public programs or are involved 
in events organized externally. As with Surrey, SFU’s 
Vancouver campus has been a critical component 
in renewing and improving Vancouver’s downtown 
core, becoming the “cultural heart of Vancouver”.

Named in honor of arts supporter Michael 
Audain, the newly-opened Audain Gallery will 
be a vital part of the Visual Arts program at the 
School for the Contemporary Arts. The gallery 
will explore the ways in which contemporary 
art is socially and politically formed and 
formative, and will encourage conceptual and 
experimental projects through its Artists in 
Residence Program. Located in the Downtown 
Eastside at the Woodward’s development as 
part of the SFU Vancouver campus, the Audain 
Gallery is open to the public free of charge.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

SFU Woodward’s has made community engagement 
a goal. We will contribute positively to the creative 
life of Vancouver and benefit a broad population 
with relevant educational programs and activities. 

How will we get there? First, we’re listening. We’re 
asking questions. And we’re engaging in conversation 
with anyone and everyone with ideas about the roles 
that contemporary arts and SFU Woodward’s can play 
in the local community. We envision SFU Woodward’s 
as a creative hub—a vital network of arts-related 
partnerships and inter-relationships that will help 
stimulate community-generated projects in the arts.
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Métis student Kelvin Redvers is the 2010 winner 
of the undergraduate Gordon Shrum gold medal 

for academic excellence and extracurricular 
activities demonstrating outstanding qualities 

of character and unselfish devotion to the 
university. Since completing Contemporary 

Arts’ film program, his work The Making of a 
Haida Totem Pole has aired nationwide on Bravo, 

and is on loop at the Vancouver International 
Airport. And the Knowledge Network has aired 
three of his mini-documentaries on Aboriginal 
heroes working to save indigenous languages. 
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OUR EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

The most significant external factors currently shaping 
SFU’s operating environment are the economy and 
British Columbia’s changing student demographic.

Economy

After declining rapidly at the end of 2008, the Canadian 
economy entered into a worldwide recession in the early 
part of 2009. Canada’s governments implemented stimulus 
plans to improve conditions and renewed focus on higher 
education and research, including increased infrastructure 
funding through the Knowledge Infrastructure Program 
and increased graduate student funding. SFU received 
the benefits of this funding with $59.4 million in KIP 
funding to renew our chemistry laboratories on the 
Burnaby campus and to continue expansion of the 
Surrey campus. The rebound of the financial markets 
throughout the year significantly increased the market 
value of SFU’s investment portfolios, recovering the 
losses in market value suffered in the 2008/09. 

Student Demographic

BC Statistics estimate the province’s population will grow  
by almost 38% between 2008 and 2036. The K–12 
population, ages 5–17 years, is expected to decline until 
2014 then return to current levels by 2018. The 18–29 year 
cohort is expected to continue rising until 2014 when it 
will slowly decline until 2026 (figure 6). These trends are 
significant: the traditional post-secondary model was built 
to serve students from the K–12 system and universities 
have been focused on the 18–29 cohort. Both of these 
populations are in flux and post-secondary institutions 
will need to adapt to these changing demographics. These 
trends are not so severe for the Fraser Valley region, served 
in part by SFU’s Surrey campus, where the traditional 

post-secondary demographic continues to grow. Also 
affecting BC’s post-secondary environment has been the 
conversion of community colleges to university status. 
Shrinking cohorts and the creation of teaching universities 
competing for fewer students increase the risk to SFU 
of meeting enrolment targets. SFU will continue to work 
with lower mainland colleges to promote post-secondary 
articulation and maintain the level of transfer students. 
Strategic partnerships with lower mainland colleges 
benefit students and the entire BC post-secondary system.

Another consequence of BC’s changing demographic 
is the growing demand for mature learner programs. 
Adult learners are returning to university to upgrade 
their skills and expand their career and economic 
opportunities. These changes require post-secondary 
institutions to adjust in order to meet the needs of 
these learners and make the time right for part-time 
credit studies for older adults to expand at SFU. Only a 
few competing part-time degree studies programs exist 
in BC for a learner seeking face-to-face experiences, 
and there has been little emphasis on non-cohort-
based part-time degree studies for working adults. 

SFU implemented a continuing education program 
called SFU NOW (Nights or Weekends), an initiative to 
help working adults complete an undergraduate degree 
through programming flexibility. All SFU NOW classes are 
on weekday evenings or on Saturday. This allows students 
to earn a full bachelor of general studies degree or take 
upper or lower division courses such as communication, 
political science, sociology and anthropology, and use 
them towards another degree programme. In 2009/10, 
this program enrolled approximately 260 students. 
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FUTURE OUTLOOK 

With the remarkable rebound in equity markets, 
the current year financial results present a much 
improved situation compared to a year ago, however 
SFU’s operating budget for 2010/11 included 
another round of strategic budget allocation 
decisions to produce a balanced budget. While 
operating reserves have started to recover, they 
have not yet returned to sustainable levels.

BC’s Economic Forecast Council expects BC’s 
economy to grow by almost 3% in 2010, fuelled partly 
by the effects of the 2010 Olympic and Paralympic 
Winter Games; however, fiscal 2010/11 is expected 
to be the last year of government stimulus spending 
in response to the global economic downturn. 

The federal government recognizes the importance 
of research and innovation for the long-term health of 
economy and is supporting research in Canada through 
the Knowledge Infrastructure Program and the fellowship 
program. Additional infrastructure funding is allowing 
the University to upgrade Chemistry laboratories and 
build additional capacity at SFU Surrey. Both these 
projects will be complete by the end of 2010/11.

Despite recent improvements, uncertainty remains 
about the stability of the financial markets. SFU will 
continue to employ its long-term investment strategy 
to maximize total returns on investment portfolios 
at an appropriate level of risk, while maintaining 
a spending-rate that protects the University’s 
operations from temporary market volatility. 

Managing the flow-through of excess student enrolment 
which occurred in fall 2009 will require careful 
management of resources to ensure that the high 
quality of programs and services is maintained. Ensuring 
undergraduate courses remain available to students is 
vital to the University’s success as accessibility impacts 
the student’s ability to complete degrees on a timely 
basis and has consequences to student satisfaction 
and the University’s reputation. To address these risks, 
incremental tuition fees beyond previously planned 
levels have been allocated to faculties to provide 
additional course sections and to student support 
services. The new course scheduling policy and the 
new academic plan also address this challenge.

The new Academic Plan was finalized in the spring 
of 2010 and will guide the future of the University in 
terms of adapting the academic curriculum, improving 
the students’ experience, and sustaining the high 
level of community engagement over the next three 
years. The Strategic Research Plan has also been 
updated to reflect evolving research priorities. In 
addition, the University has implemented a new 
comprehensive planning framework to help improve 
the strategic focus for allocating resources. Overall, 
SFU is well positioned to continue providing excellent 
opportunities to its students, faculty and staff, the 
research community, the province, and Canada. 

A $49.4-million KIP renovation of Burnaby’s chemistry building in the Shrum Science Centre, built in 1965, is creating state-of-the-art facilities and generating 316 jobs.
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SFU evolutionary biologist Bernard Crespi 
(pictured) and colleague Christopher Badcock 
made headlines around the world with their 
revolutionary genetic theory of mental disorders, 
providing psychiatry with perhaps its grandest 
working theory since Freud (according to the 
New York Times). This theory—that a tug of war 
between a mother’s and father’s genes may 
underly autism and schizophrenia—will provide 
new insights into the biology of mental illness 
that can ultimately lead to new treatments. 



22 SFU ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009/10 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

The year was financially strong with total assets growing 
to $1.2 billion and consolidated revenues increasing 
by 27% over 2009 to $614 million. This outcome is 
attributable to growth in the investment portfolio and 
to successful management of revenues and expenses 
associated with carrying out the University’s academic 
and research activities. The following briefly summarizes 
the most significant elements of the financial statements. 

Investments
While investments are not traditionally the focus of the 
financial statements, this year is exceptional because 
the University’s investment portfolio contributed a 
$92 million change to net revenues over the previous 
year. From a loss of $37 million in 2009 to a gain of 
$55 million at March 31, 2010, the recovery of global 
financial markets resulted in substantial unrealized 
investment gains and an increase in market value to $366 
million. The healthy investment returns also improved 
the position of the endowment stabilization reserve, 
bringing it back to a small deficit of less than $2 million. 
This reserve helps protect endowment spending from 
fluctuations in income from the underlying investments. 

Operations and fiscal restraint
The University’s academic operations are funded 
primarily by government grants and tuition fees. 
The provincial operating grant rose to $216 million 
and funded 18,280 undergraduate and 3,586 
graduate full-time equivalent student spaces. 
Total student enrolment exceeded plans by 6%, 
particularly with international students, and resulted 
in tuition and student fee revenues of $171 million. 
Ancillary revenues also benefited from increased 
activity while external revenues to fund research 
activities remained steady at $62 million. 

SFU has been actively managing operating costs 
and total expenses dropped 1% to $537 million. The 
largest expense, salary and benefits, totaled $333 
million and remained consistent with prior years, 
however efforts to reduce discretionary spending 
in all other areas, except for student financial aid, 
contributed to the overall decrease of expenses. 

Capital
The federal government’s commitment to supporting 
research and innovation included additional 
infrastructure funding through the Knowledge 
Infrastructure Program. SFU received $49.4 million 
to fund the renovation of Chemistry facilities on 
Burnaby campus and $10 million to expand SFU 
Surrey. Overall, capital investment in property and 
equipment was $81 million, which included the 
near completion of the Woodward’s redevelopment 
for the School for the Contemporary Arts. 

Financial health
Between 2004/05 and 2008/09, internally restricted 
net operating assets decreased 151% from $38.6 
million to a deficit of $19.5 million. As a result of 
revenue growth and careful management of expenses, 
this year the net assets recovered to $13.1 million. 
Included in this figure is $19.9 million of cumulative 
operating budget carryovers which are offset by 
unfunded employee future benefits and vacation pay 
and an operating investment loss in the stabilization 
account which has not yet recovered its value. 

The Endowment portfolio which supports student 
aid, academic programs, athletics, library materials, 
and research has grown 60% since 2004/05 and 
reached a high of $186 million at March 31, 2010.

Financial exposures
The University has two pension plans for its employees, 
one which is a defined benefit plan funded entirely 
by the University. It has a going concern actuarial 
surplus, but a solvency actuarial deficit of $22 million 
which will need to be addressed in the future. 

With respect to employee future benefits, 
the unamortized net actuarial loss has been 
reduced to $4 million which is a $10 million 
improvement in comparison to 2009.
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REVENUES

Revenues increased significantly over 2009 to $614 million.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

❙❙ Grants & contracts including sponsored research 
revenues, increased by 8% over 2009. Provincial  
funding was 6% higher; $231 million. 

❙❙ Tuition & student fees rose due to a 5% increase in 
enrolment over last year and a 2% increase in fees. 
Undergrad international tuition had the most significant 
increase at 32%.

❙❙ Sales of goods and services includes ancillary 
operations, which were stable but offset by decreases  
in security, computing services, and student services.

❙❙ Donations, non-government grants and contracts 
increased due to growth in research grants from 
Canadian non-profit organizations. 

❙❙ Investment income is $55 million, compared to a loss 
of $37 million last year. There was an unrealized market 
increase of $53 million and $2 million in realized income.

❙❙ Other revenue includes fees for services, and increased 
partially due to external facility rentals and royalties.

EXPENSES

Total expenses for the year decreased 1% over 2009 to 
$537 million, due to these significant changes: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

❙❙ Salaries and benefits represent 62% of expenses and 
remained stable over the year. Benefits represent 17% 
of total compensation expenses.

❙❙ Supplies & other expenses decreased as a result 
of budget reductions in discretionary spending and 
funding cuts for renovations and alterations. The 
Annual Capital Allowance grant was reduced by $2.2 
million mid-way during the year, calling for reductions 
to this category.

❙❙ Travel & personnel expenses decreased by 16% 
due to reduced operating budgets and spending on 
conferences, general travel, and general expenses.

❙❙ Cost of goods sold was reduced 5% while related 
sales were down 3%.

❙❙ Utility costs were substantially lower due to savings 
associated with an unseasonably warm winter.

$ in thousands 2010 2009 % 

Govt Grants & Contracts 291,955 270,695 8

Tuition & Student Fees 171,099 154,790 11

Sales of Goods & Services 40,010 41,382 (3)

Donations, Non-Gov’t 
Grants & Contracts

31,016 29,139 6

Investment Income 54,984 (37,048) 248

Amortization of Deferred 
Capital Contributions

13,755 13,962 (1)

Miscellaneous revenues 11,143 9,840 13 

Total 613,962 482,760 27

$ in thousands 2010 2009 % 

Salaries & Benefits 333,375 331,812 0

Supplies & Other 53,780 58,603 (8)

Amortization 50,920 49,508 3

Professional Services 28,212 30,022 (6)

Scholarships & Bursaries 27,155 26,338 3

Travel & Personnel Exp. 14,560 17,372 (16)

Cost of Goods Sold 12,128 12,771 (5)

Interest on long term debt 10,043 10,381 (3)

Utilities 7,232 8,164 (11) 

Total 537,405 544,971 (1) 
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ASSETS

Total assets increased by 8% over 2009 to $1,206 million.

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Current assets 24,531 18,855

Receivable from related party 5,033 -

Property & equipment 807,679 779,463

Investments 365,835 311,740

Prepaid lease 2,437 2,751

Total 1,205,515 1,112,809

❙❙ Current assets are higher due to increases in general 
and students accounts receivable, and a receivable of 
a distribution from SFU Community Trust.

❙❙ Property and equipment combines capital projects 
for buildings and leasehold improvements, with library 
acquisitions, computers, and furniture and equipment. 
Spending included construction at the School for the 
Contemporary Arts and renovation of the Chemistry 
building and the retrofit of Surrey’s Podium 2 space. 

❙❙ Investments increased by $57 million which includes 
market adjustments of $52 million.

LIABILITIES

Liabilities increased slightly over 2009 to $696 million.

❙❙ Current liabilities decreased as a result of the 
elimination of obligations due to the transfer of 
the Mathematics of Information Technology and 
Complex Systems (MITACS) research program to 
the University of British Columbia. The current 
portion of long term debt also decreased due to 

refinancing of short term debt to a five year term.
❙❙ Employee future benefits liability increased by $4.5 

million as accruals were made based on actuarial 
recommendations. The unaccrued portion has been 
reduced by $9.7 million as a result of actuarial gains 
and amortization of the unaccrued amount. The 
accrued but unfunded portion of these liabilities 
has been reduced by $3.6 million to $10.9 million.

❙❙ Long term debt increased due to the conversion of 
short term floating rate debt to a five year fixed term.

❙❙ Deferred contributions are externally 
restricted resources not recognized as revenue 
until the related expenses are incurred. 
Fewer contributions for research and specific 
purpose projects mean a small decrease.

❙❙ Deferred capital contributions represent 
the unamortized portion of restricted capital 
advances, and increased due to contributions for 
ongoing projects including SFU Contemporary 
Arts at Woodward’s, the Chemistry renewal, 
and the retrofit of Surrey’s Podium 2.
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$ in thousands 2010 2009

Current liabilities 35,245 54,406

Employee future benefits 44,797 40,244

Long-term debt 160,347 157,751

Deferred contributions 54,301 55,640

Deferred capital contrib. 379,915 365,142

Deferred lease proceeds 21,533 19,331

Total 696,138 692,514
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NET ASSETS

Net assets increased from 2009 by 21% to $509 million. 

❙❙ Internally restricted for operating commitments 
include balances derived from operating budget 
carry forward amounts at the department level 
as well as internally restricted funds for research 
and other projects. These amounts are offset 
by accrued but unfunded liabilities for employee 
future benefits and unfunded vacation pay.

❙❙ Lease and other reserves are for non-
operating commitments which relate to long 
term lease commitments for SFU Harbour 
Centre, and reserves which are designated for 
contracts for specific purpose activities. 

ENDOWMENT FUND

SFU’s endowment funds are an important source of 
financial support for our students, research, academic 
programs, library collections, athletics, and many 
other University activities. Endowments are donations 
that are restricted by the contributor. The Endowment 
Fund investment strategy aims to maintain the 

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Internally restricted for 
operating commitments

13,150 (19,508)

Lease and other 30,372 27,919

Invested in property, 
plant & equipment

280,013 262,913

Endowment 185,842 148,971

Total 509,377 420,295

purchasing power of the original capital value for 
future generations, while also ensuring that adequate 
spending income allocations remain stable each year. 

With the rebound of the financial markets in 
2009/10, investment income related to the 
endowment fund of $39.7 million was recorded 
this year. The income stabilization reserve which 
protects endowment spending against fluctuations 
in the value of the fund recovered by $31 million 
leaving a balance to recover of less than $2 million. 
Additional donations of also $4.4 million contribute 
to the new fund balance of $186 million.

The endowment fund investment policy 
requires diversification between fixed income 
(30%) and equity securities (70%) to balance 
investment risk with optimizing earnings.
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$ in thousands  spending  2010/11

Faculty & academic support 3,225

Student financial aid 2,247

Research chairs 2,044

Professorships 391

Library 179

Athletics 108

Total  8,193
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ANCILLARIES

Ancillary services provide goods and services 
to the University community. They are:

❙❙ SFU Bookstores in Burnaby, Harbour Centre & Surrey.
❙❙ Residence & Housing have accommodation capacity 

for over 1,800 students and provide 14 hotel rooms.
❙❙ Food Services are provided through a contractor 

at seven locations on the Burnaby campus.
❙❙ Parking operates all parking lots and repays debt 

on the parkade. U-Pass is a key initiative to control 
demand from limited parking spaces and encourage 
the use of transit for environmental benefits.

❙❙ Document Solutions provides both digital 
and traditional printing services.

❙❙ Microcomputer Store in the Cornerstone building 
adjacent to the Burnaby campus sells personal 
computers and supplies to the university community. 

Revenues are generated to cover operating expenses, 
debt service payments and to provide reinvestment 
necessary to ensure long term financial viability. 
Revenues remained stable at $35.2 million. 
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$ in thousands 2010 2009

Bookstore 14,104 13,990

Residences 13,553 13,213

Parking 4,430 4,105

Microstore 2,524 2,591

Food Services 515 596

Document Solutions 119 82

Total 35,245 34,577
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$ in thousands 2010 2009

Federal Government 39,376 42,189 

Canadian Not for Profit 10,208 8,326 

BC Government 5,815 7,158 

Foreign Not for Profit 930 985 

Industry 2,659 3,122 

Other 3,227 3,165 

Total 62,215 64,945

SPONSORED RESEARCH REVENUES

Research is primarily funded by three federal granting 
agencies: Natural Sciences and Engineering Research 
Council, Social Sciences and Humanities Research 
Council, and Canadian Institutes of Health Research.

While there was a gain compared to last year, the net 
decrease is a result of the transfer of the Mathematics of 
Information Technology and Complex Systems research 
program to UBC, decreasing the total by $6.9 million. 
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As explained in Note 2 and Note 23, the University’s 
financial statements include the financial 
information for the following related entities. 

SFU COMMUNITY TRUST

SFU Community Trust’s mandate is to oversee the 
development of UniverCity, a compact, mixed-use 
residential neighbourhood founded on the Four 
Cornerstones of Sustainability: Equity, Economy, 
Education and Environment. The Official Community 
Plan allows for up to 4,536 residential units in two 
distinct neighbourhoods to the south and east of 
SFU’s campus, each with its own elementary school 
and neighbourhood park. The OCP includes provisions 
for a commercial core, community facilities, and 
an extensive network of pedestrian paths and 
bike trails. The Trust oversees the development of 
UniverCity through the provision of zoned, serviced, 
subdivided sites to private sector developers on 
a prepaid, long-term (99-year) leasehold basis.

The Trust is presided over by a 17-member Board of 
Directors comprising key SFU stakeholders, faculty 
and student representatives as well as a number of 
prominent real estate and development experts from 
in and around Vancouver and the Lower Mainland. 
The Board of Directors establishes policy for SFU 
Community Trust and plays a very active role in 
shaping the planning and development of UniverCity.

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

The purpose of the Simon Fraser University Foundation 
(the “Foundation”) is to encourage public awareness 
of, and support for, Simon Fraser University (the 

“University”) and its benefits to the people of British 
Columbia. The Foundation is an Agent of the Crown 
and is therefore exempt from income taxes under 
section 149 of the Income Tax Act. The majority of 
the Foundation’s revenue is rental income from the 
15 rental units in the Verdant housing complex which 
are owned by the Foundation for the purposes of 
leasing to SFU’s faculty and staff. The Foundation is 
consolidated in the endowment fund of the University.

GREAT NORTHERN WAY

The Great Northern Way (GNWC) collaborative university 
campus combines the strengths of four academic 
institutions: University of British Columbia; Simon Fraser 
University; Emily Carr University of Art + Design and 
the British Columbia Institute of Technology. GNWC 
has the mandate to intersect arts, technology and 
the environment in a manner that bridges academia 
with industry, artists with technology, and innovation 
with development. It is an integrative environment 
that builds community and celebrates innovation.

SFU has a 25% interest in GNWC and it is recorded 
on a proportionate consolidation basis.

INFORMATION ON RELATED ORGANIZATIONS



28 SFU ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009/10 

DR. MICHAEL STEVENSON
PRESIDENT 

DR. PAT HIBBITTS
VICE PRESIDENT, FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION 
MAY 27, 2010

The University is responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and has prepared them 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. The financial statements 
present fairly the financial position of the University 
as at March 31, 2010 and the results of its operations 
and its cash flows for the year then ended.

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits 
inherent in all systems, the University has developed 
and maintains a system of internal control designed to 
provide reasonable assurance that University assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are 
a reliable basis for the preparation of financial statements.
	
The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility 
for review of the financial statements and oversight of 
management’s performance of its financial reporting 
responsibilities principally through its Audit Committee. 
Members of the Audit Committee are not officers or 
employees of the University. The Committee meets 
with Management, the internal auditor and the external 
auditors to discuss the results of audit examinations 
and financial reporting matters. The external 
auditors have full access to the Audit Committee, 
with and without the presence of Management.
	
The financial statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2010 have been reported on by the 
Auditor General of British Columbia. The Auditors’ 
Report outlines the scope of their examination 
and provides their opinion on the fairness of 
presentation of the information in the statements.

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
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Report of the Auditor General
of British Columbia

To the Members of the Board of Governors of 
Simon Fraser University, and

To the Minister of Advanced Education and Labour Market Development,
Province of British Columbia:

I have audited the statement of financial position of Simon Fraser University as at 
March 31, 2010, and the statements of operations and changes in operating net assets, changes in 
net assets and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the University’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Simon Fraser University as at March 31, 2010, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles.

Victoria, British Columbia John Doyle, MBA, CA
May 27, 2010 Auditor General





FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010



32 SFU ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009/10 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
Approved:

$ in thousands 2010 2009

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (notes 3 & 26) 1,936 1,811 

Accounts receivable (note 26) 18,301 12,610 

Inventories 2,198 2,446 

Prepaid expenses 2,096 1,988 

24,531 18,855 

Receivable from related party (note 4) 5,033  - 

Investments (notes 5 & 26) 365,835 311,740 

Property and equipment (note 6) 807,679 779,463 

Prepaid lease (note 7) 2,437 2,751 

Total Assets 1,205,515 1,112,809

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 30,757 45,889 

Current portion of long term debt (note 8) 4,488 8,517 

35,245 54,406 

Employee future benefits (note 9) 44,797 40,244 

Long term debt (note 8) 160,347 157,751 

Deferred contributions (note 11) 54,301 55,640 

Deferred contributions for property and equipment (note 11) 379,915 365,142 

Deferred lease proceeds (note 12) 21,533 19,331 

696,138 692,514

Net Assets (note13)

Operating - -

Internally restricted for commitments:

Operating (note 14) 13,150 (19,508)

Lease and other (notes 15 & 26) 30,372 27,919 

43,522 8,411 

Invested in property and equipment (note 26) 280,013 262,913 

Endowment (note 16) 185,842 148,971 

509,377 420,295 

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,205,515 1,112,809 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT MARCH 31, 2010

MICHAEL FRANCIS
CHAIR, BOARD OF GOVERNORS

PAT HIBBITTS
VICE PRESIDENT, FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN OPERATING NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

$ in thousands 2010 2009

REVENUE
Government grants and contracts (note 17)

Province of British Columbia 231,321 215,007 

Government of Canada 58,827 53,412 

Other governments 1,807 2,275

Tuition 

Credit courses 150,326 135,704 

Non-credit courses and other student fees 20,773 19,087 

Sales of goods and services 40,010 41,382 

Donations, non-government grants and contracts	 31,016 29,139 

Investment income (loss) (note 18) 55,284 (37,048)

Amortization of deferred contributions: property & equipment 13,755 13,962 

Other revenue	 10,843 9,840 

613,962 482,760 

EXPENSE

Salaries 277,566 278,336 

Employee benefits 55,809 53,476 

333,375 331,812 

Supplies and other operational expenses	 53,780 58,603 

Amortization of property and equipment	 50,920 49,508 

Professional and contracted services	 28,212 30,022 

Scholarships, bursaries and prizes	 27,155 26,338 

Travel and personnel expenses	 14,560 17,372 

Cost of goods sold	 12,128 12,771 

Interest on long-term debt	 10,043 10,381 

Utilities	 7,232 8,164 

537,405 544,971 

Net revenue (loss) from continuing operations		  76,557 (62,211)

Gain on disposal of properties (note 19) 6,648 -

Net revenue (loss) for the year 83,205 (62,211)

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Decrease (increase) in net assets restricted for commitments (35,111) 34,075 

Increase in investment in property and equipment (17,100) (4,733)

Loss (gain) on endowment investments allocated to endowment principal (note 11) (30,994) 32,869 

Net change in operating net assets (83,205) 62,211 

Operating net assets, beginning of year - -

Operating net assets, end of year - -



34 SFU ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009/10 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

INTERNALLY RESTRICTED COMMITMENTS

$ in thousands
GENERAL 

OPERATING OPERATING
LEASE

& OTHER

INVESTED IN 
PROPERTY &
EQUIPMENT

RESTRICTED FOR
ENDOWMENT

PRINCIPAL

NET ASSETS, beginning of year

As previously stated (25,048) 5,540  24,372 266,460 148,971 

Reclassification of operating investment stabilization 
to operating internally restricted (note 26) 25,048 (25,048)

Reclassification of internally restricted to invested 
in property and equipment (note 26) 3,547 (3,547)

As restated - (19,508) 27,919 262,913 148,971 

CHANGES FOR THE YEAR

Net revenue for the year 83,205 

Transfers

Change in restricted for specific commitments (35,111) 32,658 2,453 

Increase in investment in property & equipment (17,100) 17,100 

Endowment Transactions

Contributions and other transfers 6,638 

Capitalized investment income 2,463 

SFU Community Trust equity income (note 12) 242 

Gain on endowment investments allocated
to endowment principal (notes 11, 16) (30,994) 30,994 

Removed from endowment per donor request (1,500)

Capital reduction from loss on related investment (1,966)

Net assets, end of year - 13,150 30,372 280,013 185,842 

note 14 note 15 see below note 16

Invested in Property & Equipment is represented by

Property and Equipment 807,679 

Sinking Fund Investment (note 5) 6,678 

Long-term debt, before current portion (note 8) (164,835)

Deferred Contributions for property and equipment (379,948)

Net current assets and current liabilities invested in Capital Fund  6,823

Long-term donation receivable 3,616 

Invested in Property & Equipment 280,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

$ in thousands 2010 2009

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Revenue (loss) for the year 83,205 (62,211)

Items not involving cash

Gain on sale of properties (6,648)  - 

Unrealized portion of investment losses (gains) (note 18) (53,078) 36,773 

Amortization of deferred contributions, property & equipment (13,755) (13,962)

Amortization of property and equipment 50,920 49,508 

Employee future benefits 4,553 3,515 

65,197 13,623 

Changes in non-cash operating balances

Accounts receivable (5,691) 1,519 

Receivable from related party (5,033)  - 

Inventories 248 (883)

Prepaid expenses (108) 306 

Prepaid lease 314 315 

Accounts Payable and accrued liabilities (15,132) (955)

Deferred contributions (1,339) (3,919)

Cash provided by operating activities 38,456 10,006 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net decrease (increase) in long term investments, net of market adjustment (1,017) 13,880 

Proceeds from sale of properties (note 19) 6,728  - 

Property and equipment acquisitions (81,073) (61,704)

Endowment contributions 8,080 6,365 

Cash used in investing activities (67,282) (41,459)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Deferred contributions for property and equipment 30,384 15,328 

Long term debt proceeds 159  - 

Debt principal repaid (1,592) (2,564)

Cash provided by financing activities 28,951 12,764 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 125 (18,689)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 1,811 20,500 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 1,936 1,811 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash interest paid during the year was $9,988,000 (2009: $10,294,000).  
During the year, the University entered into non-monetary transactions 
related to the disposal and acquisition of an interest in a building which  
has been excluded from the foregoing (note 19).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2010

1. AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

Simon Fraser University operates under the authority 
of the University Act of British Columbia. It is a 
comprehensive research university engaged in research 
and delivering a full range of undergraduate, graduate and 
continuing studies programs from campuses in Burnaby, 
Vancouver and Surrey, BC. Simon Fraser University is a 
not-for-profit entity governed by a Board of Governors, 
the majority of which are appointed by the provincial 
government of British Columbia. The academic governance 
of the University is vested in the Senate. The University 
is a registered charity and is therefore exempt from 
income taxes under section 149 of the Income Tax Act.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
AND REPORTING PRACTICES

Accounting Method

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
using the not-for-profit organizations reporting 
standards recommended by the Canadian Institute 
of Chartered Accountants (CICA). These principles 
are consistent with those used in prior years.

The deferral method of accounting for contributions 
is used. Net assets are reported in relation to general 
operating, internally restricted, invested in property 
& equipment and endowments. Revenues and 
expenses are recorded on a gross and accrual basis.

Related Entities

The University’s 25% interest in the Great Northern 
Way Campus Trust is recorded on a proportionate 
consolidation basis. Simon Fraser University Foundation 
is consolidated in the accounts of the University. 
The SFU Community Trust is recorded based on 
the equity method as described in note 12. 

Details of other corporations and consortiums, 
in which the University may have a significant 
interest, are contained in note 23. These entities 
are not consolidated in these financial statements 
as the net assets are not contemplated to be, and 
are not, readily realizable by the University.

Revenue Recognition

Operating government grants not restricted in use 
are recognized when received or receivable. Such 
grants, if contributed for a future period, are deferred 

and reported as deferred contributions until that 
future period. Other unrestricted revenue, including 
student fees and sales of goods and services, are 
reported as revenue at the time the services or 
products are provided. Unrestricted contributions and 
pledges are recognized as revenue when received.

Externally restricted contributions (grants and donations) 
are reported as revenue depending on the nature of 
restrictions on the use of the funds by the contributors.

❙❙ Contributions for specific purposes other than 
endowment or the acquisition of property 
and equipment are recorded as deferred 
contributions and recognized as revenue in 
the year related expenses are incurred.

❙❙ Contributions restricted for capital purposes 
are recorded as deferred contributions until the 
amount is invested in property and equipment.
»» If the property and equipment acquired is land, 

property rights or a special collection item, the 
amount is recorded as a direct increase to net 
assets invested in property and equipment.

»» If the property and equipment has a limited life, 
the amount invested is recorded as a deferred 
capital contribution and amortized over the 
useful life of the asset to net assets invested 
in property and equipment. Amortization of 
deferred capital contributions for property and 
equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated life of the related assets.

❙❙ Endowment contributions, matching contributions 
and investment income allocated for endowment 
capital preservation are recognized as direct 
increases in net assets held for endowments in 
the period in which they are received or earned.

Gifts-in-kind are recorded at fair market value on the 
date of their donation or at nominal value when the 
fair market value cannot be reasonably determined. 

Financial Instruments

The University has elected to apply CICA Handbook section 
3861 in relation to reporting on financial instruments 
with some additional disclosures in relation to risk. The 
University’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, investments, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt. These 
financial instruments are accounted for as follows:
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Held-for-trading

The University has designated cash and cash 
equivalents and investments as held-for-trading. 
These instruments are recognized at their fair 
value, determined by published price quotations 
in an active market. Transaction costs to buy or 
sell these items are recognized in income on the 
settlement date. Net gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognized immediately 
in income unless funds are externally restricted.

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities

The University has classified accounts receivable 
as loans and receivables, and accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and long-term debt as other 
financial liabilities for financial reporting purposes. 

These instruments are initially recognized at their 
fair value and are subsequently measured at their 
amortized cost, using the effective interest method. 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are recognized in net income upon derecognition or 
impairment. Given the short-term nature of accounts 
receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 
their carrying value equates to their fair value.

Inventories

Inventories of merchandise held for resale in the 
Bookstore and the Microcomputer Store are recorded at 
the lower of acquisition cost and net realizable value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded 
on the statement of financial position at cost. 
Donated assets are recorded at fair market 
value at the date of acquisition. Amortization of 
property and equipment is recorded on a straight 
line basis over the estimated life of the asset.  

Estimated useful life (time in years)

Site services 50 

Buildings

concrete 50 

wood frame 30 

Library books 10

Equipment and furnishings 8

Computing equipment 3

Leasehold improvements Term of Lease

No amortization is taken on land, property rights, works 
of art and collections, which include that portion of 
library assets considered to have permanent value, as 
they are considered to have an unlimited useful life.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are tested for impairment whenever 
circumstances indicate that the service potential has 
declined. When events or circumstance indicate that 
the service potential has declined, the long-lived assets 
are written down based upon the relative loss of service 
potential and a related expense recognized in the 
statement of operations and changes in net operating 
assets. A long-lived asset taken completely out of use 
is written down to its residual value. In 2010, a modular 
building was written down by $76,000 to nil (note 19). 
There was no write down of long-lived assets in 2009.

Prepaid Lease 

Prepaid lease expense is capitalized and 
amortized over the term of the related lease.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, 
and revenue and expenses during the reporting period. 
Significant areas requiring the use of management 
estimates include the impairment of assets, provision 
for doubtful accounts, amortization period for property 
and equipment, and actuarial assumptions for employee 
future benefits and pension plans. Actual results could 
differ from management’s best estimates as additional 
information becomes available in the future. 

New Accounting & Regulatory Pronouncements

The University’s financial reporting is based on the CICA 
Handbook’s private entity standards which include the 
section 4400 series on not-for-profit accounting standards.

In March 2010, the Public Sector Accounting Board 
released an Exposure Draft “Financial Reporting for 
Government Not-for-Profit Organizations”, in which they 
propose that organizations like the University utilize the 
Public Sector Accounting Handbook with incorporation 
of the existing 4400 series of standards. The proposed 
change would applying beginning in the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2013 with comparative figures to be provided 
on that basis for the preceding fiscal year. If the proposal 
in the Exposure Draft is adopted, this would be a major 
change to the underlying framework of financial reporting. 

In February 2010, the Government of British Columbia’s 
Throne Speech announced their intent to introduce 
legislation that would enable universities to remove 
themselves from the government reporting entity. This 
could enable universities to continue reporting pursuant 
to the current financial reporting standards.
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The combination of accounting standards that are 
under development and the potential change in the 
relationship with the provincial government that could 
change the determinants of the appropriate accounting 
standards provides considerable uncertainty on the 
framework of financial reporting that the University will 
apply in the future. The implications of these potential 
changes has not been determined at this time.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents are demand deposits in 
Canadian financial institutions; primarily in Canadian 
currency; and presented net of outstanding items 
including cheques written but not cleared by the bank 
as at the date of the statement of financial position. 

4. RECEIVABLE FROM RELATED PARTY 

The receivable from a related party is due from SFU 
Community Trust and is without interest or fixed 
repayment terms. The University is a beneficiary 
of SFU Community Trust and accounts for it by 
the equity method as discussed in note 12.

5. INVESTMENTS

 
$ in thousands

2010 
market

2009 
market

Actively managed bond fund 77,562 87,966 

Indexed bond fund 71,433 67,915 

Total Bonds 148,995 155,881 

Canadian equities 108,840 73,863 

Foreign equities 56,255 29,292 

Long term annuity 12,004 12,075 

Private equities 12,155 10,714 

Great Northern Way portfolio 8,052 8,413 

Long term promissory note 6,316 7,236 

Sinking fund 6,678 6,249 

Vancouver Foundation 6,540 5,925 

Donated hedge fund  - 2,092 

Total 365,835 311,740 

Actively Managed Bond Fund

 
$ in thousands

2010 
market

2009 
market

Government bonds

Federal 18,401 23,563 

Provincial and municipal 32,472 29,558 

50,873 53,121 

Corporate debentures 26,689 34,845 

Total 77,562 87,966 

Bonds in the actively managed bond fund mature between 
2011 and 2041, and have coupon rates from .29% to 7.5%.

The indexed bond fund is based on the DEX Universe Bond 
index, referencing 1,024 bonds: 47% federal government, 
26% provincial and municipal, and 27% corporate. As at 
March 31, 2010, the portfolio’s one year return was 5.18% 
and the duration was 5.94 years.

Foreign equity investments are invested approximately 
50% in US markets and 50% outside of Canada and the US.

The long term annuity is receivable in installments of 
$1,457,000 from 2011 to 2013, $2,257,000 from 2014 to 
2017 and $8,257,000 in 2018.

Private equities consist of five pooled private equity funds 
in which the University participates.

The Great Northern Way portfolio is the University’s 
proportionate share of their investments, being 
$4,250,000 of money market funds and $3,802,000 of 
balanced pooled equity and bond funds.

The long term promissory note is receivable in annual 
payments of $1,200,000 of both principal and 4% interest 
until February 2016.

Sinking funds investments are held and invested by 
the Province of BC. These funds totaled $6,678,000 
(2009: $6,249,000) and will provide for the retirement of 
debentures issued to the Province at maturity. Annual 
sinking fund payments due within the next five years are 
included in the debt repayment schedule in note 8.

The Vancouver Foundation investment is in its 
Consolidated Trust Fund pool which invests in investment 
pools of equities, fixed income and real estate.

Market Adjustment Analysis

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Market adjustment

Operating investments

Balance, beginning of year (1,730) (1,933)

Change in the year 10,283 203 

Balance, end of year 8,553 (1,730)

Endowment investments

Balance, beginning of year (21,727) 15,249 

Change in the year 42,795 (36,976)

Balance, end of year 21,068 (21,727)

Total, end of year 29,621 (23,457)

Investments, at cost, year end 336,214 335,197 

Investments, at market, year end 365,835 311,740 
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Space in the Central City complex for the Surrey campus 
is included in buildings. The 429 acres of land in Burnaby  
is recorded in the financial statements at its 1965 
assessed value of $572,000. A portion of this land is set 
aside for development by the SFU Community Trust.

As at March 31, 2010, the University had committed to 
contracts for the construction and acquisition of buildings 
with future expenditures of approximately $42 million. 
The capital financing plan in relation to construction of 
the School for the Contemporary Arts at the Woodward’s 
redevelopment includes fundraising of which a further 
$8.4 million of pledges need to be obtained. Alternatively, 
the University will need to seek other sources of financing. 

7. PREPAID LEASE

The University prepaid a liability due on the expiry 
of the Harbour Centre lease in December 2017. The 
prepaid lease amount is being amortized over the 
remainder of the lease. Commitments in relation to 
the Harbour Centre lease are $4,181,000 per year 
until the end of the lease in December 2017.

8. LONG TERM DEBT

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Demand loan — GNWCT 3,785 3,750 

Term loan 4,537 4,378 

Mortgages, student residences 1,658 1,791 

Verdant 3,186 4,969 

Debentures, senior unsecured 140,669 140,380 

Province of BC 11,000 11,000 

164,835 166,268 

Current portion (4,488) (8,517)

Total long term debt 160,347 157,751 

Demand loan is the University’s ¼ share of the Great 
Northern Way Campus Trust demand loan and revolving 
loan. It bears interest at bank prime plus 0.65%; 
payments are interest only; and principal is due on 
demand. The debt is secured by a promissory note, 
general security agreement and first charge over certain 
properties. Term loan bears interest at 4.26%, and has 
annual payments of $400,000 (principal and interest), 
due September 30, 2014.

Mortgages collateralized by student residences bear 
interest at rates between 5.375% and 6.875%; have 
annual payments of $248,000 (principal and interest); 
and are due between January 1, 2017 and July 1, 2019. 
Mortgage collateralized by the Verdant rental units bears 
interest at 5.20%; has quarterly payments of $84,165, 
(principal and interest); is amortized to June 3, 2023; and 
is due June 3, 2017. 

Debentures–Senior Unsecured issued by the University 
for $150,000,000 bear interest at 5.613%; interest paid 
semi-annually; due June 10, 2043; and are recorded using 
the effective interest method. Net proceeds were used 
to finance capital projects. The debentures are neither 
obligations of, nor guaranteed by, the Province of BC. 
Debentures unsecured obtained through the Province 
of BC, bear interest at rates between 8.75% and 9.5%; 
and are due between 2012 and 2022. Annual payments 
of principal, sinking fund installments and interest due 
within the next five years are as follows:

$ in thousands Principal Sinking fund Interest

2011 4,312 175 9,882 

2012 556 178 9,854 

2013 585 216 9,398 

2014 616 44 9,226 

2015 459 44 9,083 

6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 
$ in thousands

 
Cost

Accumulated 
Amortization

2010 
net

2009 
net

Buildings, concrete 653,000 165,402 487,598 514,469 

wood 23,133 12,231 10,902 15,301 

Site services 35,844 11,886 23,958 24,823 

Leasehold improvements 12,253 7,919 4,334 4,822 

Computing equipment 30,231 15,060 15,171 18,133 

Equipment and furnishings 126,742 54,064 72,678 72,273 

Library books 83,083 36,003 47,080 46,693 

Special Collections 8,615  - 8,615 7,346 

Land and property rights 30,776  - 30,776 30,141 

Construction in progress 106,567  - 106,567 45,462 

Total capital assets 1,110,244 302,565 807,679 779,463 
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9. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

Some benefit plans for employees involve payments to 
be made after the provision of service and are described 
as employee future benefits. Estimating the expense for 
the current fiscal period of these future benefits involves 
an actuarial valuation to determine the accrued benefit 
obligation. The expected average remaining service 
life of eligible employees is utilized as the attribution 
method applied to recognize the expense and determine 
the accrued benefit liability. The difference between 
the obligation and the liability is the unamortized net 
actuarial loss. The University does not segregate assets 
to specifically offset this liability, but does establish net 
assets internally restricted for employee future benefits.

Description of Benefit Plans 

The University has three defined benefit plans 
that provide retirement and post-employment 
benefits to employees, all of which are not funded 
by the segregation of assets, as follows:

Non-Pension Benefits 

Non-pension benefits represents the liability for 
portions of premiums payable to eligible current 
employees and retirees for Medical Services Plan, 
Extended Health Benefits and Dental Benefits. 
Only employees hired before dates between 
July 1, 2001 and May 1, 2003, depending on 
employee group, are eligible for this benefit.

Early Retirement 

Early Retirement represents current and future 
pension payments to employees that took early 
retirement in the mid 1990’s and other employees 
that receive supplementary pensions. 

Long Term Disability 

Long Term Disability represents the liability to 
employees who are being paid or have made 
claims pursuant to the University’s self insured 
long term disability plans. An insurance company 
administers the plans and is reimbursed for 
disability claims payments plus service fees.

Total cash payments

Total cash payments for employee future benefits in the 
year is solely cash disbursements made to beneficiaries 
of its unfunded plans of $3,036,000 (2009: $2,767,000).

Defined employee future benefit plans

The University measures the accrued benefit 
obligations for accounting purpose as at March 31 
of each year. The most recent actuarial valuations 
of all three plans were as of March 31, 2010 and 
reported an actuarial gain of $8,271,000.

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Accrued benefit obligation 48,630 53,814 

Unamortized net actuarial loss 3,833 13,570 

Accrued benefit liability (note 14) 44,797 40,244 

Funded by internally 
restricted for the employee 
future benefits (note 14) 33,874 25,723 

Not funded by internally 
restricted for the employee 
future benefits (note 14) 10,923 14,521 

Accrued benefit liability

 
$ in thousands

Non-Pension 
Benefits

Early 
Retirement

Long term 
Disability

2010 
total

2009 
total

Balance, beginning of year 28,740 4,505 6,999 40,244 36,729

Current service cost 947 35 2,268 3,250 2,822

Interest on benefit obligation 1,926 218 729 2,873 2,037

Amortization of actuarial deficiency 1,086 - 380 1,466 1,423

Disbursements (943) (307) (1,786) (3,036) (2,767)

Balance, end of year 31,756 4,451 8,590 44,797 40,244
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Funded actuarial status

The following table reconciles the accrued benefit 
obligation with the accrued benefit liability on the 
statement of financial position. The difference is the 
unamortized net actuarial loss (gain) and represents 
the surplus or deficit not yet recognized for accounting 
purposes of $3,833,000 (2009: $10,058,000). Deferred 
recognition is a key element of the Canadian GAAP 

employee future benefits accounting. This approach 
gradually recognizes changes in accrued benefit 
obligations and fund performance over the expected 
average remaining service life of the employees 
covered by the plans, being ten years for the non-
pension benefits and early retirement plans and 
eight years for the long term disability plan.

Accrued benefit obligation

 
$ in thousands

Non-Pension 
Benefits

Early 
Retirement

Long term 
Disability

2010 
total

Balance, beginning of year 38,510 4,505 10,799 53,814

Current service cost 947 35 2,268 3,250

Interest cost 1,926 218 729 2,873

Benefits paid (943) (307) (1,786) (3,036)

Actuarial (gains) (6,408) (861) (1,002) (8,271)

Balance, end of year 34,032 3,590 11,008 48,630

 
$ in thousands

Non-Pension 
Benefits

Early 
Retirement

Long term 
Disability

2010 
total

 Fair value of plan assets 0 0 0 0

 Accrued benefit obligation 34,032 3,590 11,008 48,630

 Funded status (deficit) (34,032) (3,590) (11,008) (48,630)

 Unamortized net actuarial loss (gain) 2,276 (861) 2,418 3,833

 Accrued benefit (liability) (31,756) (4,451) (8,590) (44,797)

Elements of defined employee future benefit costs recognized in the year

 
$ in thousands

Non-Pension 
Benefits

Early 
Retirement

Long term 
Disability

2010 
total

 Current  service cost 947 35 2,268 3,250

 Interest cost 1,926 218 729 2,873

 Actuarial (gains) (6,408) (861) (1,002) (8,271)

Cost before adjustments to recognize the long-term 
nature of employee future benefit costs

(3,535) (608) 1,995 (2,148)

Difference between actuarial loss (gain) recognized 
for year and actual actuarial benefit loss (gain) 
on  accrued benefit obligation for year

7,494 861 1,382 9,737

Defined employee future benefit costs recognized 3,959 253 3,377 7,589

 
$ in thousands

Internally 
Restricted

 Not Internally 
Restricted

2010 
total

2009 
total

Balance, beginning of year 25,723 14,521 40,244 36,729

Change in the year 8,151 (3,598) 4,553 3,515

Balance, end of year 33,874 10,923 44,797 40,244

While employee future benefits plans are not funded via 
the segregation of assets to specifically offset the related 
liability, a portion of the net assets internally restricted 

for operating commitments is reserved in relation to 
employee future benefits as described in note 14. This 
reconciles to the accrued benefit liability as follows:
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10. PENSION PLANS

The assets and liabilities of pension plans are not 
reflected in the University’s financial statements. 
The boards of trustees of these plans represent plan 
members and the employer and are responsible for 
the management of the pension plans including the 
investment of assets and administration of benefits. 

Academic Pension Plan

The University Pension Plan for Academic Staff generally 
provides benefits on a money purchase basis, but 
includes a defined benefit option for members who were 
in the plan on March 20, 1973. All contributions to the 
plan are by the employer. Contributions by the University 
for the calendar year 2009 were $11,400,000 (2008: 
$10,320,000).

An amendment to the plan in 1981 and a letter of 
agreement between the University and the Faculty 
Association in 1990 addressed the funding and the 
distribution of the formula retirement benefit account. 
The latest actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2006 
shows an actuarial liability of $25,123,000 against the 
actuarial value of assets of $29,209,000 resulting in a 
surplus of $4,086,000. The valuation is based on the 
1994 Uninsured Pensioners Mortality Table, using an 
investment rate of return of 6.25% and price inflation of 
3%. The next actuarial valuation is being completed as 
at December 31, 2009 and the results are expected after 
the completion of these financial statements.

Sensitivity Analysis

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. 
A one-percentage- point change has the following effects 
for the fiscal year.

Significant actuarial assumptions

Discount rate  5.00% 5.00% 6.60%

beginning of year  

end of year 6.25% 5.25% 4.00%

Health care cost trend rates

Initial trend rate 8.25% n/a n/a

Cost trend rate declines to  5.00% n/a n/a

Year rate reaches the rate 
it is assumed to remain at 2017 n/a n/a

Non-Pension Benefits

1% 
increase

Total of service and interest cost  412

Accrued benefit obligation, year end 5,441

1% 
decrease

Total of service and interest cost (327)

Accrued benefit obligation, year end (4,410)

Administrative/Union Pension Plan

The University Pension Plan for the Administrative/Union 
Staff provides benefits based on years of service and the 
average of the highest sixty (60) consecutive months’ 
salary. Pensions are indexed to CPI up to a maximum of 
3% per annum under the pension plan.

The University’s contribution is based on the amounts 
estimated by the Actuary and recommended by the 
Administrative/Union Pension Plan Trustees to the Board 
of Governors of the University. The University contributes 
to the fund amounts required to fund retirement benefits 
as determined by the Board of Governors. All contributions 
are by the employer.

The latest actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2007 
reports a going concern surplus on a smoothed value basis 
of $104,000 and on a market value basis of $3,931,000. 
The 2007 solvency valuation reported a solvency 
deficiency (ie. if the plan were to be wound- up on that 
date) of $21,772,000. Pursuant to the BC Pension Benefits 
Standards Act, instead of making solvency deficiency 
payments of $4,856,000 for five years commencing in 
2008, the University chose to arrange letters of credit 
in the cumulative amount of $10,000,000 to satisfy the 
current and prior years’ contribution requirements. In the 
calendar years 2010 through 2012 contributions or further 
letters of credit of $5,000,000 per year will be required to 
satisfy the contribution requirement.

Any surplus in the plan is not available to the University 
as the arrangement stipulates that the University will 
not suspend or reduce its contribution without the prior 
approval of the employee organizations. Pursuant to an 
agreement between the University and the employee 
organizations, the portion of any surplus in excess of 
15% of the defined benefit portion of the liabilities with 
assets taken at market values would be distributed to 
members. The next valuation is to be completed with 
an effective date no later than December 31, 2010. The 
employer contribution rate is 12.69%, as indicated by 
the 2007 actuarial valuation. Employer contributions for 
calendar year 2009 were $11,794,000 (2008: $10,897,000). 
The valuation is based on the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner 
Mortality Table projected to 2015 using mortality 
projection scale AA; an investment rate of return of 6.00%; 
and an inflation rate of 2.25%.

Pension Plan for Certain Members

This plan covers two members who contributed to 
the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association 
and College Retirement Equities fund in 1971, 
and have chosen to remain in the defined 
contribution plan. University contributions in 
calendar year 2009 were $8,600 (2008: $9,300).
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Changes in deferred contributions

 
$ in thousands

Sponsored 
Research

Specific 
Purpose

 
Subtotal

Property & 
Equipment

2010 
total

2009 
total

Balance, beginning of year 37,085 18,555 55,640 365,142 420,782 423,335 

Contributions in the year 62,216 26,630 88,846 30,384 119,230 112,261 

Transferred to revenue (61,209) (28,976) (90,185) (13,755) (103,940) (99,724)

Terminated in relation to  
disposal of building (note 19) - - - (1,856) (1,856) -

Increase (decrease) in endowment 
income account in the year stabilization - 30,994 30,994 - 30,994 (47,959)

Loss (gain) on endowment investments 
allocated to endowment principal (below) - (30,994) (30,994) - (30,994) 32,869

Balance, end of year 38,092 16,209 54,301 379,915 434,216 420,782 

Source of deferred contributions, end of year

Province of British Columbia 5,280 5,045 10,325 306,031 316,356 306,990 

Government of Canada 31,972 2,931 34,903 24,007 58,910 53,181 

Other 840 8,233 9,073 49,877 58,950 60,611 

Balance, end of year 38,092 16,209 54,301 379,915 434,216 420,782 

Endowment income stabilization account

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Endowment investment 
income (loss) for the year

Realized (note 18) (3,106) (1,762)

Unrealized (notes 5, 18) 42,795 (36,976)

39,689 (38,738)

Endowment income allocated to

Individual endowment 
spending accounts (8,625) (9,143)

Endowment principal to 
preserve purchasing power (70) (78)

Increase (decrease) in 
endowment income stabilization 
account during the year 30,994 (47,959)

Balance, start of year (note 18) - 15,090

30,994 (32,869)

Loss (gain) on endowment 
investments allocated to 
endowment principal (note 16) (30,994) 32,869

Balance, end of year - -

Balance, end of year endowment 
income stabilization account 
losses applied to reduce 
endowment principle (note 16) (1,875) (32,869)

11. DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS

Deferred contributions represent unspent resources externally restricted for a particular purpose in a subsequent fiscal 
period.

Under the deferral method of accounting for 
contributions, restricted contributions related to 
expenses of future periods are deferred and recognized 
as revenue in the period in which the related expenses 
are incurred. The $379,915,000 of deferred contributions 
for property and equipment represents the unamortized 
portion of restricted capital advances relating to assets 
which were purchased with restricted contributions.

Deferred contributions for specific purposes

$ in thousands 2010 2009

External non-research contracts 7,439 10,004 

Endowment spending accounts 
& other externally restricted funds 8,770 8,551 

Endowment income stabilization 
account (see below) - -

Balance, end of year 16,209 18,555 

The endowment income stabilization account represents 
the cumulative difference between endowment 
investment income and the funding applied to: (a) 
individual endowment spending accounts and (b) the 
amounts added to endowment principal to preserve the 
spending power of the capital. Where the endowment 
stabilization account would otherwise be in 
deficit, negative balances are transferred to 
reduce endowment principal (note 16).
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12. DEFERRED LEASE PROCEEDS / 
RELATED ENTITY ACCOUNTED FOR 
BY THE EQUITY METHOD

SFU Community Trust is developing land on Burnaby 
Mountain known as “UniverCity”. The land was settled on 
the Trust by the University. The Trust is a taxable business 
trust and must pay income taxes on any taxable income 
that is not allocated to beneficiaries. The majority of the 
development is being accomplished by the sale of 99 year 
leases to developers who will develop residential housing.

SFU Community Trust has two beneficiaries, the 
University and Simon Fraser University Foundation, 
whose beneficiary is also the University. The 
Trust is not consolidated, but is accounted for by 
the equity method with the income amortized 
over the 99 year terms of the related leases. 

Since its inception, the Trust has distributed $19,800,000 
(2009: $19,800,000) to the University and $2,060,000 
(2009: $2,060,000) to the Foundation. Cumulatively, the 
University has, on an equity accounting basis, recognized 

Net income from Trust

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Net income (loss) as reported by the Trust 2,539 (2,044) 

Adjustment of land value on transfer to Trust realized through sales of leases (2,513)  - 

Deferred current net income from SFUCT  -  - 

26 (2,044) 

Portion of Trust income of prior years recognized this year 216 216

Net income (loss) to University from Trust, recorded as increase 
(decrease) in net assets held as endowment principal (note 16) 242 (1,828)

$1,891,000 (2009: $1,649,000) as income capitalized 
to the endowment. However, the entire actual funds 
received, $19,800,000, is invested for the benefit of the 
endowment. In the coming year, SFU Community Trust 
has committed to distribute $2,444,000 to the University.

SFU Community Corporation, a company wholly-
owned by the University, has the sole purpose of being 
Trustee of the Trust and has no business operations.

Audited financial statements of the Trust as at December 
31st are separately prepared. Information on the 
equity accounting in the University and a financial 
summary of the Trust’s activities are provided below.

Equity in SFU Community Trust

The University records its equity accounted interest in the 
income (loss) of the Trust as a direct increase (decrease) 
in net assets held as endowment principal as described in 
note 16. This amounted to an income of $242,000 (2009: 
loss of $1,828,000), and was determined as follows:

Trust’s Equity Reconciled to University’s Deferred Lease Proceeds / Equity in Trust

 
$ in thousands

Trust  
Equity

Consolidation 
Adjustments

University
2010 Deferred 

Lease Proceeds

University
2009 Deferred 

Lease Proceeds

Balance, beginning of year 11,781 (31,112) (19,331) (17,904)

Changes in the year

Net income reported by Trust 2,539 2,539 (2,044)

Deferred current year’s net income (2,539) (2,539) -

Income of prior years recognized in the year 216 216 216

Income of current years recognized in the year 26 26 -

Base rent elimination 401

Allocation to Beneficiaries (2,444) (2,444) -

Subtotal, changes in year 95 (2,297) (2,202) (1,427)

Balance, end of year 11,876 (33,409) (21,533) (19,331)

Consolidation adjustments relate to two factors: land 
was transferred to the Trust that was recorded at 
fair market value, but is retained in the University’s 
records at cost until realized by third party 

transactions; and, income from the sale of leases 
by the Trust is recognized in the Trust at the time 
of lease sale, but is recognized in the University 
over the 99 year terms of the related leases.
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SFU Community Trust: Financial Summary

$ in thousands 2010 2009

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets 63,057 29,705 

Total liabilities 51,181 17,924 

Trust balance, end of year 11,876 11,781 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS & TRUST BALANCE

Revenue 5,900 1,032 

Expenses 3,361 3,078 

Net income (loss) for the year 2,539 (2,046)

Trust balance, beginning of year 11,781 13,827 

Allocations to beneficaries during the year (2,444) -

Trust balance, end of year 11,876 11,781 

CASH FLOWS

Operating activities 2,566 (3,054)

Investing activities (14,094) (3,248)

Financing activities 13,115 6,410 

Increase (decrease) in cash during the year 1,587 108 

13. CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

The University considers its capital to be its net assets, 
operating, restricted and capital. Its restricted net 
assets consist of amounts for future commitments (See 
notes 14 and 15) and amounts invested in property 
and equipment assets. The University’s objectives 
when managing its capital are to safeguard its ability 
to continue as a going concern so it can continue 
to provide services to its students and research 
funding agencies. Annual budgets are developed 
and monitored to ensure the University’s capital is 
maintained at an appropriate level. The University 
has no external restrictions imposed on its capital.

14. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR 
COMMITMENTS : OPERATING

Internally restricted amounts are subject to funds 
being available and therefore, the investment loss 
carryover and accrued but not funded employee 
future benefits and vacation pay are deducted in 
determining the net amount of the internal restriction.

The unrealized portion of operating investment 
income inherent in internally restricted for 
commitments—operating at the end of the 
year is $10,283,000 (2009: $203,000).

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Balance, beginning of year (19,508) 3,160 

Increase (decrease) in the year 32,658 (22,668)

Balance, end of year 13,150 (19,508)

The balance at the end of the year of internally 
restricted for commitments: operating general 
consists of the following elements: 

OPERATING BUDGET

Department carryovers 19,896 11,591 

Investment loss carryover (6,363) (25,048)

13,533 (13,457)

Auxiliaries and special projects 2,666 2,715 

Research & other grants 13,794 11,765 

29,993 1,023 

LESS: ACCRUED BUT NOT FUNDED 
EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS (NOTE 9)

Funded liability (note 9) 33,874 25,723 

Accrued liability (note 9) (44,797) (40,244)

Unfunded portion (note 9) (10,923) (14,521)

Vacation pay (5,920) (6,010)

Subtotal: accrued but not funded (16,843) (20,531)

Balance, end of year 13,150 (19,508)
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15. INTERNALLY RESTRICTED FOR 
COMMITMENTS : LEASE & OTHER

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Ancillary enterprises 2,961 (400)

Specific purpose 12,681 12,560 

Long term lease commitment 14,263 15,170 

Self insurance 467 589 

Total 30,372 27,919 

The Ancillary enterprises represents accumulated 
funds held for (deficit of) the ongoing operations of 
ancillaries: Bookstore, Food Services, Microcomputer 
Store, Residences, Parking and Document Solutions.

Specific purpose represents funds from various sources 
that are allocated internally to specific activities.
	
Long-term lease commitment funds provide for 
obligations entered into for the occupancy of the 
University’s Harbour Centre facility, which include 
lease payments, tenant loan payments, a contribution 
towards operating costs, and to fund amortization of 
the prepaid lease that is reported as an asset on the 
University’s statement of financial position (note 7).

Self-insurance funds are held to pay self-
insured property and liability losses.

16. ENDOWMENT

Endowment consists of restricted donations to the 
University whose capital is to be held in perpetuity. 
The investment income generated from endowments 
must be used in accordance with the various 
purposes established by the donors. Donors as well 
as University policy stipulate that the economic 
value of the endowments must be protected by 
limiting the amount of income that may be expended, 
and capitalizing a portion of available investment 
income in order to maintain purchasing power. 

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Balance, beginning of year 148,971 176,902 

Donations 4,351 9,270 

Capitalized investment income 2,463 919 

Equity income for the year from 
SFU Community Trust (note 12) 242 (1,828)

Removed from endowment  
per donor request (1,500) -

Matching and other funds 
capitalized (returned) 2,287 (3,423)

Capital reduction from loss on 
specific related investment (1,966) -

Recovery of (loss on) endowment 
investments allocated to 
endowment principal (note 11) 30,994 (32,869)

Balance, end of year 185,842 148,971 

Income (loss) from the University’s beneficial 
interest in SFU Community Trust was recognized 
as a direct increase in (reduction of) net assets 
held as endowment principal. Note 12 describes, 
the Trust’s sale of 99 year leases that result in 
recognition of “deferred lease proceeds” which are 
amortized to income over the remaining terms of 
the leases. Funds from the Trust are invested to 
generate income for the benefit of the endowment.

Endowment principal

$ in thousands 2010 2009

Individual endowment 
principal balances, year end 187,717 181,840 

Income stabilization account 
loss (gain) not applied to 
individual endowment 
principal balances (note 11)

Balance, beginning of year (32,869)  - 

Change in the year 30,994 (32,869)

Balance, end of year (1,875) (32,869)

Balance, end of year 185,842 148,971 
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$ in thousands

General
Operating

Operating 
Other

 
Endowment

2010 
total

2009 
total

Income (loss)

Realized (note 11) 3,865 1,447 (3,106) 2,206 (15,365)

Unrealized (change in market 
adjustment (notes 5, 11) 10,283 - 42,795 53,078 (36,773)

Subtotal (note 11) 14,148 1,447 39,689 55,284 (52,138)

Decrease in endowment income stabilization 
account, beginning of year (note 11) - - - - 15,090 

Total 14,148 1,447 39,689 55,284 (37,048)

note 11

17. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRACTS

During the year, the University recorded the 
following government grants and contracts as 
they became receivable in accordance with the 
deferral method of accounting for contributions.

$ in thousands 2010 2009

PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

   Operating 215,612 198,398 

   Sponsored research 5,815 7,158 

   Specific purpose 4,819 6,171 

   Property and equipment 4,488 6,955 

   Recorded as net deferred contributions 587 (3,675)

231,321 215,007 

GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

   Operating 6,498 6,771 

   Sponsored research 39,376 42,189 

   Specific purpose 12,477 12,108 

   Property and equipment 900 -

   Recorded as net deferred contributions (424) (7,656)

58,827 53,412 

OTHER GOVERNMENTS

   Operating 236 241 

   Sponsored research 1,038 1,185 

   Specific purpose 533 849 

   Property and equipment - -

   Recorded as net deferred contributions - -

1,807 2,275 

Total 291,955 270,694 

18. INVESTMENT INCOME (LOSS)
Investment markets have been volatile and this is reflected 
in changing values of investments and investment income. 
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19. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF PROPERTIES

During the year, the University realized net 
gains on disposal of properties of $6,648,000 
(2009: nil) which consist of the following:

$ in thousands Proceeds Gain

MONETARY DISPOSALS 

With a related party, SFU Community Trust

Concrete building, Burnaby 3,090 920 

Wood frame building 1,943 1,943 

5,033 2,863 

With third parties

Rental units 1,695 133 

Total monetary disposal 6,728 2,996 

NON-MONETARY DISPOSALS

Concrete building, Surrey 10,400 1,872 

Modular building - (76)

Total non-monetary disposal 10,400 1,796 

Total property disposals 17,128 4,792 

Gain on termination of deferred contribution balance related 
to Burnaby concrete building disposal (note 11) - 1,856 

Total 17,128 6,648 

During the year, the University disposed of two properties 
to SFU Community Trust, which the University is a 
beneficiary of and accounts for on the equity basis 
as described in note 12. The transaction value of the 
concrete building was based on an independent appraisal. 
The transaction value of the wood frame building 
was based on a mutually agreed reference value. 

This year, the University entered into a non-monetary 
transaction whereby the University’s ownership of the 
fourteenth and fifteenth floors of its interest in the Surrey 
building concrete was exchanged for, with the addition 
of cash, for a larger area in the Podium component of 
the building. In accordance with CICA Handbook section 
3831, the exchanged asset was measured at the more 
reliable measure of fair value, in this case being the cash 
value per unit of area added through the exchange.

The modular building was written-off without proceeds 
when its use was planned to be discontinued.

20. PLEDGES

Pledges made by donors to the University for donations 
to be received in future years are estimated at: cash 
donations $22,400,000 (2009: $19,800,000) and gifts 

in kind $12,600,000 (2009: $12,500,000). Pledges are 
not recorded in the financial statements until the 
related donations are received by the University.

21. CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the University is involved in litigation  
or proceedings relating to claims arising out of its 
operations in the ordinary course of business. It is 
expected that the ultimate outcome of these claims 
will not have a material effect on the financial position 
of the University. Most these claims are covered by the 
University’s insurance coverage. Any University payouts 
that may result from these claims will be recorded in 
the period when it becomes likely and determinable.

As described in the foregoing note 10, the University 
has a contingent liability of $21,772,000 in relation 
to the Administrative/Union Pension Plan.

The University is a member in a self-insurance co-
operative in association with other Canadian universities 
to provide property and general liability insurance 
coverage. Under this arrangement, referred to as the 
Canadian University Reciprocal Insurance Exchange 
(CURIE), the University is required to share in any net 
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losses experienced by CURIE, beyond the reserves 
that CURIE has accumulated from member premiums. 
Subscribers to CURIE have exposure to premium retro-
assessments should the premiums be insufficient to 
cover losses and expenses. The University is committed 
to this insurance arrangement until December 31, 2012.

22. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles, the University recognizes asset retirement 
obligations where a reasonable estimate of the fair 
market value of the obligation and the future settlement 
date of the retirement of the asset can be determined. 
The University has identified potential asset retirement 
obligations relating to removal and disposal of 
environmentally hazardous building materials in some 
facilities that may be incurred upon major upgrades or 
demolition in the future. At this time, the University has 
not recognized these asset retirement obligations as 
there is an indeterminate settlement date of any potential 
future demolition or renovation of the facilities and 
therefore the fair value cannot be reasonably estimated.

23. RELATED ENTITIES THAT ARE 
NOT CONSOLIDATED 

TRIUMF

Simon Fraser University is one of six universities in a 
joint operation called the Tri-Universities Meson Facility 
(TRIUMF) at the University of British Columbia (UBC) 
campus. On April 1, 2010 five more universities joined the 
joint operation. TRIUMF is Canada’s National Laboratory for 
research in Particle Physics. TRIUMF is not incorporated 
and each University has an undivided fractional interest 
in its assets, liabilities and obligations, except for the land 
and buildings it occupies that are owned by UBC. Facility 
and operations are funded by federal government grants, 
the University makes no direct financial contribution and 
expects no monetary gain from this research venture.

$ in thousands 2010 2009

FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets 16,686 17,066 

Total liabilities 13,705 13,706 

Fund balances, restricted 2,471 3,139 

other 510 221 

16,686 17,066 

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue 63,288 59,787 

Expenses 63,667 61,568 

Net Revenue (loss) (379) (1,781)

WCUMBS

The University is one of five University members of 
the Western Canadian Universities Marine Biological 
Society (WCUMBS), which operates a research 
station at Bamfield, British Columbia. The Society is 
a not-for-profit organization incorporated under the 
Society Act of British Columbia. The University made 
a grant to the Society in 2010 of $298,000 (2009: 
$308,000). Such grants, when made, are recorded as an 
expenditure by the University. There is no expectation 
of monetary gain to the University from this venture.

SFU Community Corporation

The University owns all of the outstanding shares 
of SFU Community Corporation. SFU Community 
Corporation has no business operations and 
its sole purpose is to act as the trustee of SFU 
Community Trust as described in notes 2 and 12.

SF Univentures Corporation

The University owns 100% of the shares of SF Univentures 
Corporation (SFUV), which was established to promote 
technology transfer to the private sector. The assets of 
SFUV are not material to these financial statements.



50 SFU ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2009/10 

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISKS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is the estimated 
amount that the University would receive or pay to 
settle a financial asset or liability at the reporting date.

Risk Management
The financial instruments of the University and the nature 
of risks that they may be subject to are as follows: 

Market risks

FInancial instrument Credit risk Liquidity risk Currency Interest rate Other price

Cash and cash equivalents x

Accounts receivable x

Investments x x x x x

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities x x

Long term debt x x x

Credit risk

The University is exposed to credit risk resulting 
from the possibility that parties may default on their 
financial obligations, or if there is a concentration of 
transactions carried out with the same party, or if 
there is a concentration of financial obligations which 
have similar economic characteristics such that they 
could be similarly affected by changes in economic 
conditions. The University does not directly hold 
any collateral as security for financial obligations.

Cash and cash equivalents

Credit risk associated with cash and cash 
equivalents investments is minimized substantially 
by ensuring that these assets are invested in 
Schedule A Canadian chartered banks.

Accounts receivable

Management believes concentrations of risk with 
respect to accounts receivable is limited due to: 
❙❙ Student accounts receivable being a large 

population of limited amounts, the leverage 
to stop further enrollment and the granting 
of transcripts until payment is made and 
pro-active collections management.

❙❙ Other receivables, advances and tax recoveries 
are generally with governments, major 
institutions other credit-worthy institutions.

The University maintains allowances for potential 
credit losses, and such losses to date have been within 
the University’s expectations. In making estimates in 
respect of the allowance for doubtful accounts, current 
economic conditions, historical information, reasons 
for the accounts being past due and line of business 
from which the receivable arose are all considered 
in the determination of when to allow for past due 

accounts. The same factors are considered when 
determining whether to write off amounts charged to 
the allowance account against the amounts receivable.

Receivable from related party

The University believes its receivable from SFU 
Community Trust is collectible based on its 
understanding of the business plans of the Trust.

Investments

The University has investment policies to ensure 
investments are managed appropriately in order to 
balance preservation of capital, meeting liquidity 
requirements and achieving attractive returns. The 
University retains several external investment firms 
to invest funds in accordance with its investment 
policies utilizing diverse agreed upon investment 
strategies primarily in active trading markets. 
Applying the CICA fair value hierarchy for fair value 
measurements provides an indication of the overall 
types of investments held at March 31, 2010 being: 
94% quoted prices in active markets for identical 
investments (level 1); 5% direct or indirect observable 
prices that are not quoted prices (level 2); and 1% 
inputs that are not observable market data (level 3).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University will not be 
able to meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations 
as they come due. Liquidity risk also includes the 
risk of the University not being able to liquidate 
assets in a timely manner at a reasonable price.

The University meets its liquidity requirements by 
holding assets that can be readily converted into 
cash and preparing annual operating and capital 
expenditure budgets, which are monitored and 
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are updated as required. In addition, the University 
requires authorizations of expenditures on projects 
to assist with the management of capital.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices, whether those changes are caused 
by factors specific to the individual financial 
instrument, or factors affecting financial instrument 
traded in the market. The significant market risks 
to which the University is exposed are currency 
risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. 

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of 
financial instruments or future cash flows associated 
with the instruments will fluctuate in Canadian dollar 
value due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The functional currency of the University is the 
Canadian dollar. The University transacts some 
revenue expenditure activity in U.S. dollars and other 
currencies due to certain operating costs being 
denominated in U.S. dollars and other currencies.

The University uses foreign exchange forward contracts 
only as a defensive strategy for known future obligations 
to manage foreign exchange transaction exposures.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair 
value of financial instruments or future cash flows 
associated with the instruments will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates.

The interest rate exposure of the University arises 
from its interest bearing assets and its fixed income 
investments including bonds and mortgages.

The University’s cash includes amounts on deposit 
with financial institutions that earn interest at market 
rates. The University manages its exposure to the 
interest rate risk of its cash by maximizing the interest 
income earned on excess funds while maintaining the 
minimum liquidity necessary to conduct operations 
on a day-to-day basis. Fluctuations in market 
rates of interest on cash do not have a significant 
impact on the University’s results of operations.

The primary objective of the University with respect 
to its investments in fixed income investments is to 
ensure the security of principal amounts invested 
and provide for a high degree of liquidity, while 
achieving a satisfactory investment return.

Other price risk

Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of 
financial instruments or future cash flows associated 
with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices (other than those arising from currency 
risk or interest rate risk). The University is exposed 
to price risk through its investment in equities. The 
price risk associated with bonds is considered as 
part of interest rate risk for these purposes.

25. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain amounts on the financial statements for the year 
ended March 31, 2009 have been reclassified in order to 
conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

26. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

Net assets—general operating has had the balance 
at the beginning of the year retroactively restated to 
increase the balance by $25,048,000 from ($25,048,000) 
to nil and the balance of net assets—internally restricted 
for commitments- operating at the beginning of the 
year has been retroactively restated to decrease 
the balance by $25,048,000 from $5,540,000 to 
($19,508,000) in order to apply the operating investment 
stabilization account deficit in determining net assets 
internally restricted for operating purposes.

In order to classify all funds in investment portfolios 
managed by professional investment administrations 
as investments, retroactive for March 31, 2009, 
the statement of financial position has restated: 
cash from $6,525,000 to $1,811,000; accounts 
receivable from $13,098,000 to $12,610,000; and 
investments from $306,538,000 to $311,740,000.

Net assets—internally restricted for commitments—
lease and other has had the balance at the beginning 
of the year retroactively restated to increase the 
balance by $3,547,000 from $24,372,000 to $27,919,000 
(note 15) and the balance of Net assets—internally 
restricted—invested in property and equipment 
at the beginning of the year has been retroactively 
restated by $3,547,000 from $266,460,000 to 
$262,913,000 in order to consolidate reporting 
of all internal restrictions related to capital.
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